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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

Richmond Division 
 
JOE MARTINEZ, individually and on 
behalf of all other similar situation, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
PARTNERSHIP SCREENING 
INTERNATIONAL, INC., 
 
 Defendant. 

 
 
 
 
 
 Civil Action No. 
 
 

 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 
 NOW COMES, Plaintiff, JOE MARTINEZ (“Plaintiff”), individually and on behalf of all 

other similarly situated individuals, and for his Class Action Complaint against Defendant 

PARTNERSHIP SCREENING INTERNATIONAL, INC., alleges: 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. Plaintiff brings this action against Defendant, PARTNERSHIP SCREENING 

INTERNATIONAL, INC. (“Defendant”), for violations of the Fair Credit Reporting Act 

(“FCRA”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681a–x, which imposes several important requirements on consumer 

reporting agencies, such as the Defendant, that sell employment-related consumer reports. 

2. Defendant is a consumer reporting agency (“CRA”) as defined and governed by the 

FCRA. 

3. Initially, the FCRA imposes numerous requirements on consumer reporting 

agencies (“CRA”) like Defendant that apply in every context. One such requirement is that CRAs 

provide consumers with all the information the CRA possesses about a consumer at the time the 

consumer requests that information. This is commonly known as a file disclosure, and the FCRA 
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demands that it include not only all information, but also the sources of the information in the 

consumer’s file, and comprehensive list of everyone, including end users, to whom the CRA has 

provided a report about the consumer. 15 U.S.C. § 1681g(a)(1)–(3). 

4. Defendant obtains consumer information bearing on consumers’ character, general 

reputation, personal characteristics and mode of living from myriad sources such as criminal and 

traffic records, social security number information, sex offender registries, sanctions and 

debarments records, Department of Health & Human Services inspector general records, Food & 

Drug Administration debarment records, Office of Foreign Asset Control records, and U.S. 

General Services Administration excluded persons list. 

5. After acquiring consumer information from its sources, Defendant regularly 

assembles that information into a report, which it then sells to third parties.  In this case, Defendant 

sold information to other CRAs, which then sells the information contained in the reports to other 

third-parties, which in this case are prospective employers. 

6. Defendant sells such consumer reports to customers throughout the country, using 

facilities of interstate commerce to transmit such reports, including but not limited to electronic 

transmission. 

7. Plaintiff was a victim of an inaccurate consumer report sold by Defendant to 

Plaintiff’s prospective employer, CarLotz (hereinafter “CarLotz”). Plaintiff was denied 

employment because CarLotz relied on the inaccurate and derogatory consumer report about him. 

8. Defendant reported derogatory information about Plaintiff to CarLotz for 

employment purposes, yet it did not provide Plaintiff with contemporaneous notice that it was 

reporting that information. 
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9. As a result of CarLotz’s use of the erroneous consumer report sold by Defendant, 

Plaintiff was left jobless and humiliated. 

10. Plaintiff brings an individual claim against Defendant for violations of Section 

1681e(b) of the FCRA, because Defendant failed to have in place reasonable procedures to assure 

the maximum possible accuracy of the information it was reporting about Plaintiff. 

11. Plaintiff brings a nationwide class claim against Defendant under Section 

1681k(a)(1) of the FCRA, because Defendant reported derogatory information about Plaintiff to 

CarLotz for employment purposes, but did not provide Plaintiff with contemporaneous notice that 

it was providing that information to CarLotz. 

PARTIES 

12. Plaintiff, Joe Martinez, is a natural person and a “consumer” as defined by 15 

U.S.C. § 1681a. 

13. Defendant, Partnership Screening International, Inc., is a corporation with its 

principal office address located at P.O. Box 6838, Richmond, VA 23230. 

14. Defendant is domiciled in Richmond Virginia, and as its principal place of business 

in this District and Division. 

15. Defendant is a “consumer reporting agency,” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f), 

that compiles, sells, furnishes, and uses consumer reports and services in the Eastern District of 

Virginia and throughout the United States. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

16. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 15 

U.S.C. § 1681p. 
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17. Venue is proper in the District of Virginia, Richmond Division, because Defendant 

is subject to personal jurisdiction in this District, maintains its principal place of business in this 

District, and makes employment decisions and/or sells consumer reports regarding individuals 

residing in this District from its business located in this District.  28 U.S.C. § 1391(c). 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

Defendant’s Report About Plaintiff Causes Rejection For Employment 

18. In or about October 2021, Plaintiff applied for a position with CarLotz. As a 

requirement for potential employment, Plaintiff had to agree to a background check. 

19. CarLotz utilized the services of Defendant who provided a background report on 

Plaintiff. 

20. Said background report contained many falsehoods about Plaintiff, most damaging 

being that he had been convicted of several crimes, including Possession of a Controlled Substance 

and Delivery of a Controlled Substance, all of which is false. 

21. Defendant provided that report to CarLotz, which contained public record 

information likely to negatively impact Plaintiff’s ability to obtain employment, but Defendant did 

not provide Plaintiff with contemporaneous notice that it was doing so. 

22. The severity of the false criminal charges led CarLotz to decline to hire Plaintiff for 

the position for which he applied. 

23. On October 25, 2021, Plaintiff sent a very detailed dispute letter to Defendant 

containing a plethora of evidence that he was the victim of Identity Theft and that the criminal 

charges being reported were false. 

24. In that letter Plaintiff included a picture of the actual criminal who was arrested, as 

well as a copy of Plaintiff’s Driver’s License so that it could be seen that he looks nothing like the 
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individual arrested. Plaintiff also included an image of his social security card as well as a letters 

from the Texas Department of Public Safety as well as the District Attorney of Collin County, TX 

confirming that Plaintiff is a victim of Identity Theft. 

25. On November 10, 2021, Plaintiff received a response from Defendant stating that 

it had concluded Plaintiff was the victim of Identity Theft and that the false criminal charges had 

been removed. However, at this point, Plaintiff had already lost out on his job opportunity with 

CarLotz. 

26. Defendant has previously been sued for its violations of the FCRA, and thus it 

knows that it is governed by the FCRA. It is aware of the entire text of the FCRA and its legislative 

history as well as the regulatory oversight by the Federal Trade Commission. 

27. Defendant accesses large databases of public records and related employment 

histories as a nationwide CRA. It accesses and compiles databases to prepare and furnish consumer 

reports for employment and other purposes. Defendant provided these consumer reports to 

prospective and existing employers, including CarLotz and the prospective employers of putative 

class members. These employers refused to hire Plaintiff and other putative class members based 

in whole or in part on the contents of the consumer reports. 

28. Defendant does not supply any notice to consumers about whom it has sold a report 

containing adverse employment information to a third party, such as criminal records in the case 

of Plaintiff. 

29. Defendant does not maintain any procedure by which it ensures that the information 

it reports to its customers is complete or up-to-date. Defendant therefore cannot rely on this option 

for complying with 15 U.S.C. § 1681k(a). 
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30. Plaintiff asserts nationwide class claims against Defendant under 15 U.S.C. § 

1681k(a), because it provided the CRA, and ultimately these Plaintiffs’ employer, with a consumer 

report containing inaccurate criminal information likely to adversely affect Plaintiffs’ ability to 

obtain employment without providing Plaintiffs with notice at the time it provided the report to 

CarLotz. 

31. Plaintiff also brings an individual claim under 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b) against 

Defendant because of inaccuracies contained in their consumer reports. Defendant sold a report 

about Plaintiff that “accurately” reported he was convicted of a crime, but which was false. 

Defendant’s Business And The FCRA 

32. During the class period, Defendant furnished an employment-purposed consumer 

report concerning Plaintiff to a third party, CarLotz. 

33. Among other things, the FCRA regulates the collection, maintenance, and 

disclosure of consumer credit report information by CRAs, including public record information 

like criminal history. 

34. Additionally, the FCRA mandates conditions, procedures, and limitations on the 

use of consumer reports for employment purposes by CRAs, prospective employers, and other 

individuals. 

35. The FCRA mandates that a report user, before taking any adverse action based in 

whole or in part on a consumer report, must provide to the consumer a copy of the applicant’s 

report and a summary of the applicant’s rights under the FCRA. 

36. Defendant has in place agreements with CarLotz whereby Defendant furnishes 

customized, employment-purposed consumer reports about consumers. 

37. Defendant has an independent obligation to comply with the FCRA. 
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38. Defendant’s violations of the FCRA have been willful, wanton, and reckless in that 

it knew, or should have known, that it was failing to comply with the requirements of the FCRA. 

39. Defendant willfully disregards its duties under the FCRA, which exacts serious 

consequences on job applicants and interstate commerce. The natural result of Defendant’s failures 

to abide by the conditions, procedures, and limitations of the FCRA prejudices consumers’ ability 

to challenge information contained in consumer reports it sells to third parties. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

COUNT ONE – CLASS CLAIM 
Failure To Provide “At The Time” Notice – 15 U.S.C. § 1681k(a)(1) 

40. Plaintiff repeats the allegations in the foregoing paragraphs as though fully set forth 

herein. 

41. The § 1681k Notice Class.  Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23 and 15 

U.S.C. § 1681k, Plaintiff bring this action for himself and on behalf of the following “Section 

1681k Notice Class,” of which he is a member, initially defined as: 

All natural persons residing in the United States (including all territories and 
other political subdivisions of the United States) (a) who were the subject of a 
consumer report issued after November 17, 2021, (b) that was furnished by 
Defendant to a third party, (c) that contained at least one record of a criminal 
conviction or arrest, and (d) to whom Defendant did not place in the United 
States mail postage pre-paid, on the day it furnished the report, a written notice 
to the subject consumer that it was furnishing the report and containing the 
name of the person that was to receive the report. 
 

42. Numerosity.  Upon information and belief, the putative Class exceeds 50 members 

each.  Information concerning the exact size of the putative Class is within the exclusive possession 

of Defendant or its agents. 

43. The Class members are so numerous and geographically dispersed that joinder of 

all members is impracticable. 
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44. Typicality. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the other Class members 

as all Class members were similarly affected by Defendant’s unlawful conduct in violation of the 

FCRA. 

45. Adequacy. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interest of the Class 

Members and have retained counsel competent and experienced in complex litigation. Plaintiff is 

a member of the Class and does not have any interests antagonistic to or in conflict with the 

members of the Class. Plaintiff’s claims are the same as those of the Class, which all arise from 

the same operative facts and are based upon the same legal theories. 

46. Commonality.  Common questions of law and fact exist as to all Class members 

and predominate over any questions solely affecting individual Class members, including by 

example only and without limitation: 

a. Whether the uniform failure to provide a timely notice when Defendant was 
furnishing employment purposed consumer reports containing a negative public 
record violated the FCRA; 
 

b. Whether Defendant maintains strict procedures designed to insure complete and 
up-to-date reports when it never obtains a complete and up-to-date court record, 
therefore § 168lk(a)(2) is inapplicable; 

 
c. The amount of statutory damages to award Plaintiff and class members for 

Defendant’s violations of the FCRA; and 
 

d. Whether Defendant’s violations of the FCRA were willful. 
 
47. Superiority. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and 

efficient adjudication of this controversy because the membership of the Class is so numerous and 

involves claims that, taken individually, may not justify the costs and effort of bringing suit. 

48. Further, the prosecution of several actions by individual members of the Class 

would create a risk of varying adjudications with respect to members of the Class, as well as create 

inconsistent standards of conduct for those opposing the Class. Additionally, individual actions by 
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members of the Class may be dispositive of the interests of other members not parties to the 

adjudication of the claim, which would impair or impede the ability of those individuals to protect 

their interests. 

49. Predominance.  The claims of the Class members, including the common 

questions of law and fact, predominate over any individual facts or legal issues present in the class 

claims.  There are no factual or legal issues that differ among the putative class members. The 

principal issues are: (a) whether Defendant sold a consumer report to employers or potential 

employers about Plaintiff and each putative class member, which contained adverse public-record 

information, without providing contemporaneous notice that it was doing so; (b) whether 

Defendant had reasonable procedures in place to comply with the FCRA; (c) whether Defendant 

required that prospective users of the information identify themselves, certify the purposes for 

which the information is sought, and certify that the information will be used for no other purpose; 

(d) whether and how Defendant maintained strict procedures to ensure that the criminal public 

records were complete and up-to-date; (e) whether Defendant sold consumer reports that contained 

obsolete information to third parties; (f) whether Defendant delivers compliant full-file 

disclosures; (g) whether Defendant acted willfully; (h) whether Defendant’s violations were 

negligent, reckless, knowing or intentionally committed in conscious disregard for the rights of 

Plaintiff and putative Class Members; and (i) the amount of statutory and punitive damages that 

should be assessed for Defendant’s violations. 

50. The members of the classes can be identified and ascertained by using the 

Defendant’s records, records maintained by its customers and the end-users of consumer reports 

furnished by Defendant to its CRA clients. 
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51. The consumer report of Plaintiff and of each member of the “1681k Notice Class” 

was furnished for an employment purpose and contained one or more public records of the type 

that may adversely affect an employer’s hiring decision. 

52. As to Plaintiff and the “1681k Notice Class,” Defendant uniformly fails to comply 

with the rigors of FCRA § 1681k(a)(2) and therefore must necessarily rely on its compliance with 

§ 1681k(a)(1). 

53. Discovery will show that Defendant obtains public records including criminal 

records from a third-party consumer reporting agency and does not attempt to obtain this 

information through its own courthouse searches. 

54. Had it done such a search in Plaintiff’s case, Defendant would have seen a 

photograph in the records confirming that Plaintiff was not the offender in the records Defendant 

attributed to Plaintiff. 

55. Discovery will also show that as to the “1681k Notice Class,” Defendant did not 

send such class members a notice pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681k(a)(1). 

56. Discovery will further confirm that as to the “1681k Notice Class,” Defendant did 

not itself or by its own court researchers or vendors attempt to verify the completeness or current 

status of the public records pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681k(a)(2), within 30 days before it furnishes 

and sells these records in one of its reports. 

57. Defendant’s failure to timely provide the required FCRA notices to the Plaintiff and 

other members of the “1681k Notice Class” violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681k(a)(1). 

58. Defendant’s violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1681k(a)(1) were willful, rendering it liable 

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n. In the alternative, Defendant was negligent, entitling Plaintiff and 

Class Members to recover under 15 U.S.C. § 1681o. 
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59. Plaintiff and each class member are entitled to recover statutory damages, punitive 

damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees from Defendant in an amount to be determined by the Court 

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n. 

COUNT TWO – INDIVIDUAL CLAIM 
Failure To Ensure Maximum Possible Accuracy – 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b) 

60. Plaintiff reiterates each of the allegations in the preceding paragraphs as if set forth 

at length herein. 

61. The consumer report about Plaintiff inaccurately reported numerous false criminal 

convictions. Plaintiff has no such criminal history. 

62. Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b) by failing to establish or to follow 

reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy in the preparation of the consumer 

reports it furnished regarding Plaintiff. 

63. As a result of this conduct by Defendant, Plaintiff suffered actual damages, 

including without limitation, by example only and as described herein on her behalf by Counsel: 

loss of employment, damage to reputation, embarrassment, humiliation, and other emotional and 

mental distress. 

64. Defendant’s violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b) were negligent, entitling Plaintiff 

to recover under 15 U.S.C. § 1681o. 

65. Plaintiff is entitled to recover actual damages and costs and attorneys’ fees from 

Defendant in an amount to be determined by the Court pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681o. 

66. Defendant’s violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b) were also willful, rendering it liable 

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n.  

Case 3:23-cv-00629   Document 1   Filed 10/03/23   Page 11 of 12 PageID# 11



 12 

67. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to recover statutory damages, punitive damages, costs, 

and attorneys’ fees from Defendant in an amount to be determined by the Court pursuant to 15 

U.S.C. § 1681n. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff asks for judgment against Defendant; for class certification as 

pleaded; for statutory and punitive damages for herself and each member of the Classes described 

above; for actual or statutory and punitive damages for her individual claims; for equitable and 

injunctive relief; and for attorneys’ fees and costs and such other specific or general relief the Court 

finds just and appropriate. 

TRIAL BY JURY IS DEMANDED. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
JOE MARTINEZ, individually and on 
behalf of and all others similarly situated, 
 
By:   /s/   
Leonard A. Bennett, VSB #37523 
Craig C. Marchiando, VSB #89736 
CONSUMER LITIGATION ASSOCIATES, P.C. 
763 J. Clyde Morris Blvd., Ste. 1-A 
Newport News, VA 23601 
Telephone: (757) 930-3660 
Facsimile: (757) 930-3662 
lenbennett@clalegal.com 
craig@clalegal.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff and the Putative 
Class 
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